

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



PROGRESS IN HISTOCHEMISTRY AND CYTOCHEMISTRY

Progress in Histochemistry and Cytochemistry 47 (2012) 1-26

www.elsevier.de/proghi

# 

Walter E. Stumpf\*

University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill, NC, USA

# Abstract

For cell and tissue localization of drugs, receptor microscopic autoradiography is reviewed, including its development history, multiple testing, extensive applications and significant discoveries. This sensitive high-resolution imaging method is based on the use of radiolabeled compounds (esp. tagged with <sup>3</sup>H or <sup>125</sup>I), preservation through freezing of in vivo localization of tissue constituents, cutting thin frozen sections, and close contact with the recording nuclear emulsion. After extensive testing of the utility of this method, the distribution of radiolabeled compounds has been identified and characterized for estradiol, progestagens, adrenal steroids, thyroid hormone, ecdysteroids, vitamin D, retinoic acid, metabolic indicators glucose and 2-deoxyglucose, as well as extracellular space indicators. Target cells and associated tissues have been characterized with special stains, fluorescing compounds, or combined autoradiography-immunocytochemistry with antibodies to dopamine-betahydroxylase, GABA, enkephalin, specific receptor proteins, or other cellular products. Blood-brain barrier and brain entries via capillary endothelium, ependyma, or circumventricular recess organs have been visualized for <sup>3</sup>H-dexamethasone,  $^{210}$ Pb lead, and  $^{3}$ H-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. With this histopharmacologic approach, cellular details and tissue integrative overviews can be assessed in the same preparation. As a result, information has been gained that would have been difficult or impossible otherwise. Maps of brain drug distribution have been developed and relevant target circuits have been recognized. Examples include the stria terminalis that links septal-amygdaloidthalamic-hypothalamic structures and telencephalic *limbic system* components which extend as the periventricular autonomic-neuroendocrine ABC (Allocortex-Brainstem-Circuitry) system into the mid- and hindbrain. Discoveries with radiolabeled substances challenged existing paradigms, engendering new concepts and providing seminal incentives for further research toward understanding drug actions. Most notable are discoveries made during the 1980s with vitamin D in the brain together

 $<sup>^{\</sup>ddagger}$  Presented in part at the 53rd Symposium of the Society for Histochemistry (2011).

<sup>\* 2612</sup> Damascus Church Road, Chapel Hill, NC 27516. *E-mail address:* stumpfwe@email.unc.edu

<sup>0079-6336/\$ –</sup> see front matter © 2011 Elsevier GmbH. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.proghi.2011.12.001

with *over 50 target tissues* that challenged the century-old doctrine of vitamin D's main role as 'the calcitropic hormone', when the new data made it apparent that the main biological function of this multifunctional sunshine hormone rather is maintenance of life and adapting vital functions to the solar environment. In the brain, vitamin D, in close relation to sex and adrenal steroids, participates in the regulation of the secretion of neuro-endocrines, such as, serotonin, dopamine, nerve growth factor, acetyl choline, with importance in prophylaxis and therapy of neuro-psychiatric disorders. Histochemical imaging with high cellular-subcellular resolution is necessary for obtaining detailed information, as this review indicates. New spectrometric methods, like MALDI-MSI, are unlikely to furnish the same information as receptor microautoradiography does, but can provide important correlative molecular information.

© 2011 Elsevier GmbH. All rights reserved.

*Keywords:* Estradiol; vitamin D; adrenal steroids; metabolic indicators; lead; blood-brain barrier; amygdala; stria terminalis; circumventricular organs; MALDI-MSI

#### Contents

1.	1. Introduction		2
2.	Receptor microscopic autoradiography		3
	2.1.	Prerequisite tissue freezing and thin frozen sectioning	4
	2.2.	Controls for preserving in vivo drug deposition – validation of method	5
	2.3.	Modifications of method	6
	2.4.	Estradiol in brain and pituitary. Chemoarchitectonic fingerprinting:	
		colocalization with catecholamine fluorescence, antibodies to enzymes	
		and receptor protein. Topographic mapping, phylogeny and ontogeny	7
	2.5.	Progestagens	10
	2.6.	Testosterone, dihydrotestosterone	12
	2.7.	Adrenal steroids	12
	2.8.	Thyroid hormone	13
	2.9.	Vitamin D	13
	2.10.	Retinoic acid	15
	2.11.	Ecdysteroids	15
	2.12.	Glucose and 2-deoxyglucose	16
	2.13.	'Blood-brain barrier' (BBB) and ventricle recess (circumventricular) organs	16
3.	Discussion		17
	3.1.	Histochemistry a via regia to the brain	17
	3.2.	Combining low- and high-resolution imaging perspectives	18
	3.3.	Future applications and development: spectrometric methods, MALDI-SMI	19
	Refer	ences	21

# 1. Introduction

The brain remains a challenge to pharmacologists. Where in the brain do drugs act? Knowing precisely where drugs act is already part of knowing how they act. Do they cross

the blood-brain barrier? Biochemical homogenization and outside scanning procedures frequently fail to provide clarifying information because of tissue heterogeneity, insufficient resolution and sensitivity of methods. Histochemical approaches are needed (Roth and Stumpf, 1969; Stumpf, 2003; 2010). However, conventional methods based on liquid fixation and embedding, while preserving cellular structures, are prone to artifacts due to diffusion and loss of non-covalently bound compounds. New histochemical methods were needed. In order to preserve in vivo sites of drug deposition and achieve high cellular resolution, appropriate freezing procedures had to be developed. Drugs had to be tagged without changing their chemical properties, with signal strength permitting recognition of limited capacity-high specificity sites of receptor binding without obscuring overloading into secondary binding sites and unspecific deposition. Such requirements are not easily met. Instead, convenient and 'expedient' low resolution methods have been favored at the cost of precision and accurate information, including whole-body macroautoradiography, section incubation apposition autoradiography, low-resolution <sup>14</sup>C-labeling, and conjugation with large fluorescing molecules (Stumpf and Solomon, 1995). To enable cellular tissue localization of drugs took extensive efforts. Controls, requirements and rules had to be worked out (Roth and Stumpf, 1969; Stumpf, 2003). Dry-mount and thaw-mount autoradiography (Stumpf and Roth, 1966) took several years to establish and test before extensive applications during several subsequent decades. Thin section thaw-mount autoradiography - with minor improvements for ease of operation, was renamed 'receptor microscopic autoradiography' (Stumpf, 2003: 2005). Pictorial evidence with discoveries and new concepts garnered over the years testify to the utility of this method (Stumpf and Grant, 1975; Stumpf, 1968a, 1970a, 1995, 1998).

# 2. Receptor microscopic autoradiography

Treating patients with psychotropic drugs as a clinical psychiatrist and neurologist during the 1950s, I was concerned about unwanted side effects associated with the benefits. There was an apparent need to learn more about sites and mechanisms of drug action. I began to use autoradiography. With conventional fixation-embedding histotechnique, I experienced loss and translocation of radiolabeled compounds (Stumpf et al., 1961). The importance for exploring alternate approaches was also recognized by Sven Ullberg in Sweden, Hilde Levi in Denmark (Levi, 1969) and Lloyd Roth in USA (Roth and Barlow, 1961). In order to work on the development of a method for cellular localization of diffusible compounds, which at the time was considered very difficult or impossible, I took up the invitation of Lloyd Roth to come to the University of Chicago for one year - on a visitor's visa.

Preserving tissue structure for microscopic resolution and, at the same time, retaining drugs and other labile tissue constituents at their in vivo sites of deposition turned out a major obstacle. We learned that 'fixation' does not imply immobilization. Liquid fixatives, as well as embedding media, can produce loss and translocation. Freezing of tissue turned out to be problematic because of ice crystal destruction of cell structure. Ignoring this problem, investigators in academia and pharmaceutical companies resorted to macroautoradiography with thick slices of frozen whole animals. This expedient but low resolution method is applied even nowadays in preclinical ADME studies. While providing convenient surveys

of drug distribution, it does so without discerning specific sites of action from unspecific sites of loss. Lacking cellular resolution, it misses important sites of receptor binding. Such whole body overviews with 'robust quantitative' distribution of radiolabeled compounds agree with equally limited data from conventional cut and burn radioassays. Amazingly, this approach satisfies the requirements of regulatory agencies for the approval of new drugs, but contributes little to the elucidation of drug actions (Monro, 1994; Eichler and Mueller, 1998; Lin, 2006; Stumpf, 2007a). Microautoradiography of diffusible non-covalently bound compounds requires certain precautions for preserving the in vivo positions of labile tissue constituents that include most hormones and drugs. Since conventional liquid fixatives and embedding media cause translocation and loss, both must be excluded for preserving structure. Rapid freezing appeared necessary. During slow freezing of whole animals, as applied in whole-body autoradiography, disruptive ice crystal formation occurs. The size of intra- and extracellular hexagonal ice crystals had to be kept low, adequate freezing temperatures and speeds had to be investigated, and safe temperatures for the storage of tissue samples and frozen sectioning had to be determined (Stumpf and Roth, 1967, 1968). In order to avoid diffusion artifacts during thaw-mounting and wet tissue interaction with nuclear emulsion (chemography), we realized sections needed to be less than 5  $\mu$ m thin and attachment to nuclear emulsion needed to be quick and without pressure. This methodology requires skills and experience, and the exact conditions of all steps, including photographic exposure, development, and staining must be carefully observed. Through multiple trial and error explorations and control experiments, we were able to develop workable procedures.

Attempts have been made by others (e.g., Pfaff, 1968; Ullberg and Applegren, 1969; Warembourg, 1976, 1985). 'New methods' with an increased propensity for artifacts led to publications of mixtures of results with unrecognized artifacts (Stumpf, 1969; reviewed Stumpf and Pilgrim, 1994). Problems are related to insufficient controls and lack of rigorous testing prior to experimental use, specifically pertaining to critical low temperature conditions during tissue handling, use of thick frozen sections instead of the tested 3-4  $\mu$ m thin sections, pressure mounting of frozen sections on emulsion-coated slides, use of liquid fixatives, inadequate staining, and others (Stumpf, 2003). The use of methods with unreliable data negatively influenced the utilization of microautoradiography in drug development and brain research.

#### 2.1. Prerequisite tissue freezing and thin frozen sectioning

Vacuum freeze drying of frozen sections (Stumpf and Roth, 1964, 1966) and thin and ultrathin frozen sectioning was explored on the assumption that utmost care was required to ensure preservation of tissue structure and authentic locations of drugs. During these experiments, frozen sectioning at temperatures below -40 °C - assumed then that such low temperatures may have to be observed, albeit stated to be impossible by Pearse (1960) - we experimented and recognized that cutting feasibility is linked to changing conditions between section thickness and knife and specimen temperatures. Frozen sectioning even as low as  $-105^{\circ}$  C succeeded (Stumpf and Roth, 1965). This gave rise to the development of cryo-ultramicrotomy. For light microscopic autoradiography, it turned out, for cutting 4  $\mu$ m thin frozen sections and preservation of tissue structure, temperatures below  $-40^{\circ}$  C are not

required. Regarding the dry-mounting method, vacuum freeze-drying frozen sections at low temperatures, and dry-mounting of freeze-dried sections on emulsion-coated slides yielded excellent results, but was demanding. Comparisons of results between the two methods validated those from the less involved thaw-mounting of thin frozen sections. Therefore, the simpler procedure was favored for routine use, leaving the dry-mounting of freeze-dried section as control and for special requirements. This large number of arduous tests over several years – exploring limits and suitable conditions of freezing, low temperature frozen sectioning, and freeze-drying (Stumpf and Roth, 1969), served as a back up of controls and a foundation for the routine 'receptor microscopic autoradiography', which in essence is a frozen section thaw-mounting method (Stumpf, 1998, 2003, 2005).

#### 2.2. Controls for preserving in vivo drug deposition – validation of method

The utility of the autoradiographic method was tested with two diffusible compounds, estradiol and mesobilirubinogen, *before* recommending the method in the literature. In the early 1960s, it was still unclear whether estradiol binds to uterine cell nuclei, cytoplasmic proteins, or plasma membranes. It was surmised that mesobilirubinogen, excreted from the liver, was reabsorbed from the bile. Comparative studies with six different histological methods yielded specific results for each method, with varying degrees of loss and translocation of the diffusible radiolabeled compound during tissue preparation (Stumpf and Roth, 1966).

With conventional fixation-embedding, the mesobilirubinogen test showed radioactivity in the epithelium of bile ducts associated with an empty lumen, otherwise diffused in liver parenchyma, suggesting reabsorption. With our dry-mount and thaw-mount approaches, radioactivity was concentrated in the lumen of bile ducts, with little or no radioactivity in duct epithelium, and radiolabel in the liver parenchyma was apparent in profiles of bile canaliculi, thus arriving at a different conclusion (Stumpf and Lester, 1966). Similarly, with fixationembedding <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol -related radioactivity was diffused throughout the uterus without specific cellular-subcellular concentration, while the dry-mount and thaw-mount methods showed nuclear concentration in muscle, connective tissue and epithelial cells. There was also additional evidence to support the 2-step theory of nuclear action (Jensen et al., 1969). Later we discovered estradiol nuclear uptake and retention in atrial heart muscle, similar to uterine muscle (Stumpf et al., 1977), and in numerous other unexpected targets. Tests of the utility of the dry-mount and thaw-mount methods further included localization of the extracellular space indicators <sup>3</sup>H-methoxy-inulin and <sup>3</sup>H-mannitol (Brown et al., 1969).

Special staining of the developed autoradiogram permitted further characterization of sites of drug deposition, e.g., methyl green-pyronin for DNA and RNA, or methylen bluebasic fuchsin, all single step stains with differentiation of subcellular structures, in contrast to the common multistep hematoxylin-eosin. Combining immunocytochemistry and microautoradiography in the same preparation, various secretory products and other cytoplasmic components could be localized simultaneously and demonstrated in the autoradiographic image (Narbaitz et al., 1981; Sar et al., 1983). Whenever possible, localization, once accomplished, was followed by quantification through counting of silver grains, now facilitated

with computer programs. Even the number of molecules in a cellular compartment has been calculated after the specific silver grain yield was determined (Stumpf et al., 1981).

#### 2.3. Modifications of method

Is it possible to improve or replace this specific autoradiographic method? Resolution and sensitivity have to be matched, specific localization have to be recognized not only at the cellular-subcellular level but also within its cellular tissue context. Microscopic magnification is necessary. Tritium appears to be an optimal high resolution marker. Replacing nuclear emulsion with another radiation detector and digital recording could potentially simplify the method, but cellular resolution together with tissue orientation would need to be maintained. Nuclear emulsion contributes to sensitivity and resolution. Close contact between the tissue section and radiation detector is necessary. Nuclear emulsion with thaw-mounted sections provides the needed intimate contact for cellular resolution (Stumpf, 2003). 'New methods' have been recommended in the literature but without satisfying the prior testing requirements. With belated recognition of artifacts mixed in with results, these methods have eventually fallen by the wayside, but unfortunately not without damage to the reputation and application of the potentially useful high-resolution receptor microscopic autoradiography.

Improvements must be validated and documented by evidence. Claims should not be made without scientific support. Diffusible test substances with known localizations, like estradiol and mesobilirubinogen used by the author, should be localized on a comparative basis before claims are made. The picture is the evidence. Immunohistochemistry with antibodies to drugs or receptors cannot replace receptor microscopic autoradiography. Drugs not covalently bound will be translocated and lost during incubation. Immunostaining of receptors can be helpful, but vicissitutes have been pointed out, related to variations of the specificity of antibodies, recognition of epitopes, as well as the choice of fixatives, time of fixation, and other treatment steps during tissue preparation (Clemens et al., 1988).

There is always room for improvement and change. The question remains: can the nuclear emulsion thaw-mounting step be replaced with automated digitized recording (Cabello and Wells, 2010)? Digital microautoradiography is a goal for the future. However, currently resolution and sensitivity are lacking. The high resolution and sensitivity of the thaw-mounting method is achieved through intimate contact with the recording nuclear emulsion, a clear image of cells and tissue structure, variable short and long exposure times, and the developed silver grains for quantification. Results of this specific autoradiographic method are still unmatched by any alternate procedures. Chemical imaging methods, like matrix-assisted laser desorption imaging mass spectrometry (MALDI-MSI), and secondary ion mass spectrometric (SIMS) imaging merit further attention (Schwartz and Caprioli, 2010; Touboul et al., 2010; Walch et al., 2008). While these developing methods have the potential of providing specific chemical and spacial information, it is unlikely that they will be able to replace the histochemical microscopic approach, considering the available pictorial evidence. The images generated are specific and unique for each individual method, especially for those generated by mass spectrometry, which are derived from direct molecular measurements (Schwartz and Caprioli, 2010). In order to assess utilities and limitations comparisons



**Fig. 1.** First demonstrations of cellular (A) and systemic (B) distribution of estradiol in the brain. <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol nuclear concentration (silver grains) in neuron of rat infundibular nucleus. Two μm freeze-dried, dry mounted section. At this cellular level, there was distinct nuclear localization, but no evidence for plasma membrane and nucleolar association of estradiol. Accumulation of estradiol concentrating neurons at projection sites of the stria terminalis (B, solid lines), challenging the concept of a 'hypophyseotrophic area' as a circumscribed hypothalamic feedback site (Stumpf, 1968b; 1975). Major accumulations of target neurons: po-nucleus (n.) preopticus medialis, ist-n. interstitialis striae terminalis, vmh-n. ventromedialis hypothalami, pm-n. premammillaris.

between and among methods with identical compounds are needed. As an example, such revealing comparisons have been made *before* the introduction of our dry-mount and thaw-mount methods with two diffusible compounds, estradiol and mesobilirubinogen (Stumpf and Roth, 1966) and later with vitamin D (Stumpf, 2007a) that demonstrated limitations in target identification with radioassays and whole body autoradiography. Value of information and data reliability, much less ease of operation, are to be considered.

# 2.4. Estradiol in brain and pituitary. Chemoarchitectonic fingerprinting: colocalization with catecholamine fluorescence, antibodies to enzymes and receptor protein. Topographic mapping, phylogeny and ontogeny

First evidence of estradiol neuronal nuclear concentration (Fig. 1A) and selective target circuitry provided our laboratory (Stumpf, 1968b). At that early stage it was immediately recognized that 'estradiol neurons' exist in a pattern that followes the projections of the stria terminalis (Fig. 1B). This did not agree with the concept of the 'hypophyseotrophic area'. With serial section autoradiograms of brain and spinal cord, detailed maps were produced and phylogenetic relationships of representatives of vertebrate phyla studied (Fig. 2) (Stumpf, 1970b; Stumpf and Grant, 1975; Keefer and Stumpf, 1975a, 1975b; Martinez-Vargas et al., 1975, 1976, 1978; Kim et al., 1978, 1979, 1980, 1981; Stumpf et al., 1980a). Using radiolabeled estradiol as a marker, results from ontogenetic and



**Fig. 2.** Estradiol target neuron phylogenetic homology. Target pattern (black dots) in the preopticseptal -amygdala areas in brains of squirrel monkey (A), ring dove (B), and lizard (C). Schematics from 4  $\mu$ m cross-section autoradiograms. In early phylogeny, the stria terminalis target system exists as a closely connected unit as visible in dove (B) and lizard (C), segmenting and separating increasingly in mammalian brains as demonstrated in the squirrel monkey (A) (Stumpf et al., 1980a).

phylogenetic experiments demonstrate the original entity and subsequent separation of the preoptic- stria terminalis–amygdaloid unit (Fig. 2) (Stumpf et al., 1978).

In the spinal cord, like in the brain stem, motor neurons did not show estrogen binding under the same conditions, while sensory neurons in the substantia gelatinosa and spinal ganglion, similar to brain stem sensory neurons, concentrated estradiol (Keefer et al., 1973). In contrast, motor neurons are expressive targets of androgen (Reid et al., 1981), corticosterone (Duncan and Stumpf, 1984), and vitamin D (Stumpf et al., 1988), with neurotrophic effects on skeletal muscles. Our studies revealed that there are considerable quantitative differences of receptor binding, with varied nuclear concentration and retention among target cell populations in brain and peripheral tissues. This suggests differential degrees of target activation depending on blood levels. Further high-resolution studies and assessment of relationships to function are needed to understand such action hierarchies, which are apparent for estradiol as well as vitamin D and other substances. Such differences have been studied in the pituitary for different cell types identified with colocalized antibodies (Keefer et al., 1976). The heterogeneous nuclear uptake of <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol in pituitary cells is most apparent in autoradiograms at short exposure times (Fig. 3A), but obscured when overexposed (Fig. 3B).

The combination of autoradiography with formaldehyde-induced fluorescence of Falck and Hillarp (Heritage et al., 1977) succeeded in characterizing specific catecholamine neurons as estradiol target neurons (Fig. 4A and B). Colocalization of <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol *with catecholamine fluorescence* indicated functional relationships between the estrogenic and catecholaminergic systems that included neurons of raphe nuclei, locus coeruleus, reticular formation (Grant and Stumpf, 1975; Grant et al., 1977; Heritage et al., 1977, 1980). In lieu of formaldehyde-induced fluorescence, antibodies to dopamine-beta-hydroxylase (Fig. 4C) were later used (Sar and Stumpf, 1981, 1983) and confirmed data obtained with catecholamine fluorescence.

In the vicinity of the hypothalamic third ventricle, estradiol concentrating neurons have been colocalized with antibodies to GABA, oxytocin, enkephalin, growth hormone releasing factor, atrial natriuretic factor (Bidmon et al., 1990), and others. The combined localization of radiolabeled compound and antibodies to select proteins opened possibilities for specific chemoarchitectonic fingerprinting of the brain (Stumpf and Jennes, 1984; Stumpf and Sar, 1981a, 1981b). While brain and spinal cord have been the focus, in the same animals many other estradiol targets were discovered, including atrial cardiomyocytes, thymus reticular cells, Leydig cells, prostate epithelium and muscle cells, skin keratinocytes and dermal papillae fibroblasts (Stumpf and Sar, 1976a).

Extensive studies of representatives of vertebrate phyla have pointed to homologous estradiol brain target areas and the significance of estradiol in multiple brain functions, including regions of potential sexual differentiation (Stumpf and Sar, 1978b; Sibug et al., 1991), providing a basis for further detailed investigations.

Because of the wide distribution of estradiol target neurons in the brain, this author pondered that the 2500-year old credo of Alkmaion of Kroton 'en to encephalon to hegemonicon' may need to be modified to 'en to oophoron to hegemonicon'. Not the brain, but rather the ovary, is the leader (Stumpf, 1979). It remains important to note that estradiol conjugated with fluorescein as a marker failed to provide valid data, i.e. to localize nuclear receptors. Attachment of a large molecule to estradiol modified binding properties. Spurious



**Fig. 3.** <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol (A and B) and <sup>3</sup>H-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (C and D) in rat pituitary autoradiograms, demonstrating the importance of resolution, exposure time, and colocalization. At short exposure rime (A), the differential distribution of estradiol nuclear distribution can be assessed quantitatively. Cells with strongest concentration of radiolabeled hormone are gonadotrophs, recognized through colocalization with antibodies to pituitary hormones, not shown (Keefer et al., 1976). The differential cellular concentration is obscured after long (over)exposure, when all cells appear labeled (B). With vitamin D, the differential cellular distribution is still recognizable at long exposure time, with many other cells still weakly labeled or unlabeled (C). The strongly labeled cells have been characterized as thyrotropes after colocalization with antibodies to TSH (D) (Stumpf et al., 1987; Stumpf, 1995)).

results obtained with such conjugates were propagated without prior testing for authenticity (Chamness et al., 1980). It was left to others to provide corrective evidence.

#### 2.5. Progestagens

Whether or not progesterone receptors exist in the brain was long debated and at first denied due to negative data from biochemical homogenates. We provided first clear positive evidence of specific concentration in neurons in various brain regions (Sar and Stumpf, 1973a), indicating again differences in sensitivity and resolution of methods. Cytoplasmic receptor progestin-binding sites were elucidated biochemically much later (MacLusky and McEwen, 1980).

Colocalization of <sup>3</sup>H-progestin and antibodies to progestin receptors demonstrated correspondence in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus as well as in the uterus. In incubation



**Fig. 4.** Combined <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol autoradiography. Formaldehyde induced catecholamine fluorescence alone (A1 and A2) and together with <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol (B1 and B2). A2 and B2 are high magnification of A1 and B1, showing cytoplasmic fluorescence and nuclear radioactivity in catecholamine neurons in rat nucleus reticularis lateralis (Heritage et al., 1977). Instead of fluorescence, antibodies to dopamineβ-hydroxylase have been used to characterize catecholamine neurons in rat nucleus of the solitary tract, showing cytoplasmic staining of radiolabeled nuclei of two estradiol target neurons, while one labeled neuron (left corner) is not stained (C) (Sar and Stumpf, 1981).

experiments with uterine tissues, it could be demonstrated that receptor protein is present in cell nuclei independent of the presence of steroid hormone, suggesting that receptor translocation from cytoplasm to nucleus does not require binding to hormone (Gasc et al., 1986). With <sup>125</sup>I-labeled progesterone, an extensive distribution of nuclear target cells at different developmental ages has been demonstrated in various brain regions, including cortex and diencephalon (Shughrue et al., 1988, 1992). The distribution of progestin target cell in hamster brain and pituitary after injection of the analog <sup>3</sup>H-R5020 has also been studied (Munn et al., 1983). To which degree there is correspondence between progestin and estradiol target neurons and whether or not there are specific sites of progesterone action alone remains to be investigated.

#### 2.6. Testosterone, dihydrotestosterone

Experiments with <sup>3</sup>H-testosterone in rats and mice revealed nuclear labeling of neurons in locations in part similar to those of <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol, involving the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus, the ventromedial nucleus, medial preoptic and septal nuclei, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (Sar and Stumpf, 1972, 1973b; Stumpf and Sar, 1973). Testosterone related distribution occurred throughout the ventromedial nucleus, while the ventrolateral segment was predominant with estradiol. Motor neurons of cranial nerves and spinal cord lamina IX strongly concentrated testosterone-related radioactivity (Sar and Stumpf, 1977; Reid et al., 1975). Combined localization of <sup>3</sup>H-dihydrotestosterone and catecholamine formaldehyde fluorescence (Heritage et al., 1981) suggests androgen effects on these neurons in the male similar to estradiol in the female. Testosterone may bind and react as testosterone or as one of its metabolites, dihydrotestosterone or estradiol. This interesting process of local metabolic conversion remains to be explored, aided by correlative localization, e.g. through immunocytochemistry with antibodies to the metabolizing enzymes aromatase and 5-alpha-reductase, to hormone receptors, as well as through in situ hybridization with specific mRNA, and receptor microautoradiography with radiolabeled agonists.

#### 2.7. Adrenal steroids

The extensive presence of corticosterone receptors and strong binding of the hormone in the hippocampus enabled biochemical recognition with excised and homogenized tissues (McEwen et al., 1968). Cellular resolution was, however, required to define the differential distribution in the various cell populations and segments of the hippocampus, dentate gyrus, in other regions of the brain, and spinal cord (Stumpf, 1971; Gerlach and McEwen, 1972). Specific sites of glucocorticoid nuclear receptor binding exist in rat septum, indusium griseum, amygdala, allocortex-periallocortex, i.e., piriform and endorhinal cortex and cingulum, with the highest labeling in the hippocampal area CA2 and indusisium griseum, weak nuclear labeling in the midbrain nucleus ruber (Stumpf and Sar, 1975a) and in catecholamine neurons (Duncan and Stumpf, 1985). Strong nuclear labeling was seen throughout the spinal cord in motor neurons, with lower amounts in neurons of lamina III and VII (Duncan and Stumpf, 1984). Like with other substances, the questions arise: are the patterns of the differential distribution constant, how do they vary qualitatively and quantitatively, and what is the meaning in detail and altogether? The precise localization provides a necessary basis for follow up. Pilot studies with <sup>3</sup>H-dexamethasone revealed a different distribution and delayed brain uptake, indicating a blood-brain barrier (Rees et al., 1975; De Kloet et al., 1975; Stumpf et al., 1989a,b). Thirty minutes after the injection, a gradient of radioactivity appeared from the lateral and third ventricle to the surrounding brain parenchyma. At this

time, strong nuclear labeling was visible in peripheral organs but not in the brain. After three hours, radioactivity appeared uniformly distributed throughout the brain with the highest nuclear labeling in cells of the choroid plexus and in neurons and glial cells near ventricles, including neurons of the hypothalamic arcuate and periventricular nuclei, amygdala and hippocampus (Rees et al., 1975; Stumpf et al., 1989a,b). Localization of the mineral corticoid aldosterone in brain regions was first reported by Ermisch and Rühle (1978), applying our thaw-mount autoradiographic method. Further mapping of <sup>3</sup>H-aldosterone demonstrated nuclear concentration in neurons of the hippocampus, septum, allocortical regions, brain stem reticular formation, motor nuclei of cranial nerves, and in the meninges. These results suggest that mineralocorticoids have wide ranging effects on different parts of the central nervous system (Birmingham et al., 1979, 1984). The wide distribution of target cells for adrenal steroids in brain and body organs is noteworthy and invites further study.

#### 2.8. Thyroid hormone

Autoradiographic studies with <sup>125</sup>I-triiodothyronine in thyroidectomized rats showed prevailing nuclear and additional cytoplasmic concentration of radioactivity in a wide population of neurons and glial cells. A strong cytoplasmic concentration of radioactivity existed in specific regions of the ependyma. Three hours after the injection of radioactive triiodothyronine, strong radiolabeling was seen in select regions of cell bodies and neuropil, e.g., in pyramidal cells of the hippocampus, subiculum, granule cells of the dentate gyrus, Purkinje cells of the cerebellum, neurons of the hypoglossal nucleus (Stumpf and Sar, 1975b, 1978a; Dratman et al., 1982). Controls with radioiodide in thyroidectomized animals did not show the same localized retention and concentration of radioactivity that was obtained with <sup>125</sup>I-triiodothyronine. Results of these localization studies are in agreement with biochemical studies and are consistent with known genomic and non genomic effects. They also correspond to widespread actions of thyroid hormone, probably in all cells, potentially in a specific hierarchical pattern. Since <sup>125</sup>I can be incorporated into the thyronine molecule in several positions, high specific activity can be achieved, which is favorable for autoradiographic studies. Important further contributions can be expected.

#### 2.9. Vitamin D

First evidence for  $1,25(OH)_2$  vitamin D<sub>3</sub> target cells in brain and spinal cord was provided from our laboratory (Stumpf et al., 1979; 1980). The brain was unexpected and not readily accepted in view of the then current concept of vitamin D's independent peripheral regulation of calcium metabolism that restricted "classical" targets to intestine, kidney, bone, parathyroid, and liver. The fact that bone and calcium metabolism have been studied extensively and other effects slighted or even ignored has given false proof of vitamin D's dominance of calcitropic action. This reflects bias, limited method selection, and narrow perspectives (Stumpf, 1995). In biochemical studies, the brain was repeatedly reported negative for vitamin D (Colston et al., 1980; Gelbard et al., 1980; Sandgren et al., 1991). Even ten years after the histochemical discovery of vitamin D in the brain, "no 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor was detected in cerebrum, cerebellum" with a quantitative



**Fig. 5.** <sup>3</sup>H-vitamin D target neurons in rat central nucleus of amygdala (A) and motor neurons of spinal cord lamina IX (B), representing strong nuclear binding in certain neurons while weak or none in others (Stumpf, 2005). Vitamin D target neuron distribution in the central nervous system (C). The schematic indicates effects on motor, sensory, autonomic-endocrine circuits, and on select cortical, cerebellar, and spinal neurons (Stumpf and Privette, 1991; Stumpf et al., 1988). The size of dots in C reflects different degrees of nuclear binding and suggests selective and differential responses related to vitamin D blood levels.

immunoradiometric assay (Sandgren et al., 1991). In the "evolution of our understanding of vitamin D" (DeLuca, 2008) the brain was not recognized as a target. In the textbook on "Vitamin D" (second edition, Feldman et al., 2005), a chapter on brain (included in the first edition, but restricted to discussion of nerve growth factor) was omitted. And yet, evidence for the existence of specific binding sites in the central nervous system was provided not only as far back as 1979 and 1980 (Stumpf et al., 1979, 1980a), but target neuron populations have been documented and characterized in forebrain, midbrain, hindbrain, and cerebellum of rats and mice (Stumpf et al., 1982; Stumpf and O'Brien, 1987), in the spinal cord (Stumpf et al., 1988), further in brains of hamster (Stumpf et al., 1992a,b,c; Musiol et al., 1992), Zebra finch (Bidmon and Stumpf, 1994a), turtle (Bidmon and Stumpf, 1994b), lizard (Bidmon and Stumpf, 1996), and fish (Bidman et al., 1997), furnishing evidence for both phylogenetic target homology and species-specificity. Homologous target areas include the stria terminalis and central amygdala (Fig. 5A), and motor neurons of cranial and spinal nerves (Fig. 5B).

In some brain regions, nuclear labeling with  ${}^{3}$ H-1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sup>3</sup> is equally strong or stronger than in peripheral organs. This supports our concept that systemic calcium regulation is not the predominant role of the sunshine hormone, but rather part of adaptive regulation of growth and repair, reproduction, digestion, defense and immune responses and other vital functions, all supported by vitamin D (Stumpf, 1988b, 1995, 2007b). Since vitamin D research is increasingly expanding beyond the narrow calcium focus, multiple brain targets (Fig. 5C) and related effects have become apparent, as predicted more than 20 years ago (Stumpf and Privette, 1989; Stumpf, 1988a). Autoradiographic data from the 1980s in animals have been supported with histochemical data in the human brain (Eyles et al., 2005). Reports of vitamin D central nervous system actions include effects on brain enzymes and messengers, e.g., cholin acetyltransferase (Sonnenberg et al., 1986), nerve growth factor (Neveu et al., 1994), and serotonin (Privette et al., 1991). Dopaminergic substantia nigra, serotoninergic raphe nuclei and noradrenergic locus coeruleus all contain vitamin D target neurons. Vitamin D effects on tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA in adrenal adrenergic-noradrenergic cells have also been demonstrated (Puchacz et al., 1996). In the anterior and posterior pituitary different cell types are vitamin D targets, predominantly thyrotropes (Sar et al., 1980) (Fig. 3C and 3D), increasing blood levels of TSH and other hormones. Clinical observations about vitamin D effects relate to alterations of mood and cognition, brain development, morbus Alzheimer, multiple sclerosis, depression, schizophrenia, autismus, others (Landsowne et al., 1998; McGrath, 1999; Eyles et al., 2003; 2005; Stewart et al., 2010; Ubbenhorst et al., 2011).

#### 2.10. Retinoic acid

Actions of vitamin A are linked to those of steroid and thyroid hormones. Therefore, knowledge about sites of receptor binding and relationships provide fundamental information. Pilot autoradiographic studies with tritium-labeled retinoic acid in adult mouse brain (Stumpf et al., 1991a,b) provided evidence for nuclear concentration in neurons in distinct brain regions that include caudate-putamen, striatum, bed nucleus of stria terminalis, amyg-dala central and medial nucleus, piriform cortex, dorso-lateral hypothalamus and arcuate nucleus, olfactory bulb and tubercle, ependymal cells and choroid plexus. In the eye, there was uptake and retention of radiolabeled compound in select layers of the retina and nuclear concentration in certain neurons in the ganglion cell layer. In the anterior pituitary, cells with nuclear and some cytoplasmic accumulation of radioactivity were scattered throughout the gland. While these studies are incomplete, the results provide a promising basis for further studies and invite comparisons with results from experiments with antibodies to retinoic receptors (Krezel et al., 1999; Tafti and Ghyselinck, 2007).

#### 2.11. Ecdysteroids

Ecdysteroids, specifically 20-hydroxyecdysone, are the only endogenous and biologically active steroid hormones in insects (Bidmon et al., 1991a,b). Cellular and subcellular localization of ecdysteroid binding sites became successful with <sup>3</sup>H-ponasterone A, an analog with high specific activity of 180 Ci/mmol, using the thaw-mount autoradiographic method (Bidmon and Sliter, 1990). Previous attempts by other investigators remained inconclusive due to low specific activity of radiolabeled ecdysone and 20-hydroxyecdysone. The cellular distribution was mapped after incubation of dissected brains of the fifth larval stadium of Manduca sexta. The autoradiograms exhibited stage-specific differences in the pattern of neurons with detectable binding sites (Bidmon et al., 1991a,b). The results demonstrated that not all cells but only certain cell populations in the larval brain contain ecdysteroid receptors, consistent with expectations that the expression of receptors in topographically distinct cell populations occurs in a stage-dependent manner during the fifth instar stadium, apparently inducing cell proliferation and/or cell death (Bidmon et al., 1991a,b).

#### 2.12. Glucose and 2-deoxyglucose

Mapping brain functions with metabolic indicators is a valuable diagnostic approach. Experimental imaging with <sup>14</sup>C-2-deoxyglucose deposition as an indicator of glucose utilization (Sokoloff et al., 1977) has been widely applied. The traditional use of thick tissue sections with whole-body autoradiography, however, lacks cellular resolution and therefore misses important information (Stumpf, 2002). This and other aspects of the use of <sup>14</sup>C-2deoxyglucose have been investigated (Duncan et al., 1987b; Duncan and Stumpf, 1991). There are regional differences between glucose and 2-deoxyglucose deposition, related to the labeled substrate, the position of the label, and the time selected after administration, as revealed by high resolution autoradiography (Duncan et al., 1987a, 1988; Brüstle et al., 1988). Highest resolution was achieved in our laboratory when dry mounting of 4  $\mu$ m freezedried sections (Stumpf and Roth, 1966) together with thaw-mounting of frozen sections was applied. In addition to accumulations in neuropil regions, high cellular accumulation of radiolabel was recognized in glial cells and in neurons in select regions of the reticular formation of the lower brain stem. Neurons with especially high accumulation of <sup>3</sup>H-2deoxyglucose were located in the paragigantocellular reticular nucleus and in dorsal parts of the reticular formation - under resting conditions at both 5-minute and 45-minute survival periods. These regions are known to be involved in cardiovascular and respiratory regulation (Duncan et al., 1990). A survival time after injection of radiolabeled 2-deoxyglucose of 5-minute instead of 45-minute has been considered as an alternate useful paradigm. However, while 2-deoxyglucose uptake has 'proven to be a versatile tool to study regional brain activation', it cannot be viewed as a 'universal functional activity indicator' (Duncan and Stumpf, 1991).

#### 2.13. 'Blood-brain barrier' (BBB) and ventricle recess (circumventricular) organs

High resolution cellular imaging demonstrates that the 'blood-brain barrier' is not a simple brain barrier, but has certain openings (leaks) related to ependyma and choroid plexus specializations, ventricular recess (circumventricular) organs (Stumpf and Grant, 1975; Ermisch et al., 1992; Rühle, 1992), and possible endothelial transport. Experiments and discussions that do not include in situ microscopic information therefore are incomplete and flawed. Low resolution methods can produce false negatives, as has been the case with quaternary ammonium compounds that showed EEG-changes in the presence of a diagnosed blood-brain barrier, or vitamin D for which brain maps of target neurons for several vertebrate species have been published in contrast to negative evidence from low resolution macroautoradiography and biochemical studies (Pardridge et al., 1985). Assessment of the blood-brain barrier requires high cellular resolution because of BBB-leaks, i.e., possible entry of drugs through ventricular recess (circumventricular) organs, ependyma, and slow capillary penetration. For example, a delayed entry into brain through ventricles has been



**Fig. 6.** <sup>210</sup>Pb and its decay products concentrated and retained in rat brain capillary endothelium, 24 hours (A, longitudinal section) and 72 hours (B, cross section) after injection. Low radioactivity in neuropil. A similar concentration as in capillary walls existed in choroid epithelium and in circumventricular organs (not shown). The distribution of radioactivity indicates a blood-brain barrier (Stumpf et al., 1980b). Both alpha- and beta particles contribute to the autoradiographic image.

demonstrated with <sup>3</sup>H-dexamethasone. At 30 minutes after injection, a gradient was still recognizable from ventricle to the brain parenchyma with neuronal concentration restricted to the periventricular region (Rees et al., 1975). In contrast, in peripheral organs the concentration of radioactivity was several times greater than in the nervous system (DeKloet et al., 1975). With <sup>210</sup>Pb lead, by contrast a blood-brain barrier was indicated from autoradiographic pictures that showed concentration of radioactivity in capillary walls (Fig. 6). Neurons remained relatively unlabeled, and even after 72 hours radioactivity appeared restricted to endothelial cells and circumventricular organs (Stumpf et al., 1980b,c).

# 3. Discussion

#### 3.1. Histochemistry a via regia to the brain

The history of discoveries of drugs in the brain makes apparent that histochemical approaches have far outperformed biochemical approaches. In the exploration of the brain, the via regia is from histochemistry to biochemistry. Histopharmacology is indispensable in elucidating drug actions (Stumpf, 2010). Target cells frequently are embedded in non-target cells as 'low capacity-high specificity sites' and can therefore be missed with biochemical assays of homogenized tissues and low-resolution scans, while 'high capacity-low specificity sites' are more easily recognizable, but of less significance and only part of the picture. 'High specificity-high capacity sites', accessible to topographic-biochemical approaches

allowed early recognition of estradiol target neuron accumulations in the basal hypothalamus (Eisenfeld and Axelrod, 1965) and of corticosterone in the hippocampus (McEwen et al., 1968). For progesterone, however, there was a gap of several years between the histochemical demonstration of brain localization and biochemically confirmation (Sar and Stumpf, 1973a; MacLusky and McEwen, 1980). For vitamin D, biochemical approaches as well as whole body macroautoradiography failed to recognize specific binding sites, while the high-resolution autoradiography approach provided maps of target cell populations for mammalian and non-mammalian vertebrate species (l.c. above). In all cases, detailed recognition of brain targets required high-resolution microautoradiography (Stumpf and Grant, 1974, 1975; Stumpf and Sar, 1976b; Stumpf, 2003). Immunocytochemistry with antibodies to receptors is helpful and provides additional information, but it does not inform about receptor occupancy and is not quantitative. The review of substances acting in the brain reveals that high resolution is needed for assessing sites of action and that a combined use of low- and high-resolution methods may furnish optimal information. Data from a single method alone, or from several methods with similar deficiencies, remain incomplete and potentially misleading. Complementary information and validation are required, and results from different methods and related perspectives need to be considered (Stumpf, 2007a). Localizing drugs in the brain has been and still is a difficult task. The ability to provide authentic in vivo information with clear cellular morphology in the context of recognizable brain topography is a challenge but achievable through available approaches, including receptor microscopic autoradiography.

False claims based on over-interpretation of low-resolution data and artifacts have undermined the value and importance of tested microautoradiography methods. In developing a suitable method for in vivo tissue and cellular localization, several steps had to be carefully explored. Along the way, valuable discoveries have been made, such as freezing of tissue with no or minimal ice-crystal damage, cutting of thin frozen sections at low and ultra-low temperatures, developing of a portable cryo-sorption pump for freeze-drying of tissue, introducing one-step staining methods to replace the conventional multi-step and less differentiating hematoxylin-eosin, combining autoradiography with immunocytochemistry, introducing effectice controls, introducing quantitative evaluation through silver grain counting and converting silver grains into numbers of molecules (Stumpf et al., 1981; Stumpf, 2003).

#### 3.2. Combining low- and high-resolution imaging perspectives

'Drugs in the brain' remains an important future topic. Localization is a necessary first step in the exploration of action. Localization must contain authentic in vivo detailed information, relevant for meaningful modeling, projection and follow up. Even in its limited scope, this report provides evidence of the utility of high-resolution imaging of in vivo deposition of substances and clarifies that much of this information is unique and unobtainable otherwise. As repeatedly stated: 'the picture is the evidence'. The author of this article is baffled at how pharmaceutical companies release drugs knowing little or nothing about their comprehensive in vivo targets and target kinetics and appear satisfied with mere extrapolations from blood bioavailability, in vitro tests, radioassays of excised organ pieces, whole body macroautoradiography, and computer models (Monro, 1994; Stumpf, 2007a). How much do we know about the many targets of such common drugs as cardiac glycosides, aspirin, melatonin? Only recently have vitamin D calcium experts come to accept histochemical findings of brain targets of vitamin D published 20 to 30 years ago (Narbaitz et al., 1981). The understanding of vitamin D was changed drastically by new perspectives that were added through histochemical evidence. Specific methods with the confines of their limited results provide nothing more than limited perspectives. Epistemically, different perspectives need to be integrated to enable a holistic view - as made apparent in Chuang Tsu's parable:

Jo of the North Sea said, "You can't discuss the ocean with a well frog - he's limited by the space he lives in. You can't discuss ice with a summer insect - he's bound to a single season. You can't discuss the Way with a cramped scholar - he's shackled by his doctrines." (Watson, 1964).

Orthodoxy arises when restricted views are developed into dogma by powerful advocates. The calcium dogma of vitamin D has reigned for almost a century. Although increasingly eroded, it is still dominant in textbooks. Findings with our histochemical approach and the related new concepts, initially ignored, followed by only a few, much later attracted an increasing number, although then often without admitting or realizing the origin. – as is the fate of challenging discoveries (Kuhn, 1962; Stumpf, 1980).

#### 3.3. Future applications and development: spectrometric methods, MALDI-SMI

Potential uses of our autoradiography method may include any study that requires topographic information with cellular resolution and elucidation of in vivo localization of diffusible substances, for instance:

- Sites of action and deposition of drugs and analogs as part of ADME preclinical drug development
- Part of comprehensive imaging, providing high resolution information, complementing and validating low-resolution in vivo imaging data
- A basis for functional, biochemical, clinical follow-up
- Maps for metabolic indicators related to specific conditions and diseases
- Characterization (qualitative and quantitative) of sites of action of specific neuroendocrine substances and hormones (e.g., serotonin, melatonin, vitamin D, leptin)
- Characterization of lead compounds, analogues, antagonists
- Follow-up on receptor knock-out mice and study of animal disease models
- Age-related changes: development and aging
- Dose-related changes of receptor binding (micro-dosing, hormesis)
- Correlation, validation, and complementation of methods, e.g., in vitro, in silico, low-resolution imaging, radioassays, whole-body autoradiography
- Target tissue pharmacokinetics, assessment of changing receptor occupation, development of computer programs
- Drug delivery routes and tissue barriers
- · Assessment of nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery

• Correlation between receptor protein (immunohistochemistry) and ligand binding (autoradiography)

For high resolution drug distribution studies, at this time no alternate procedure is available, considering the results that can be obtained with the autoradiographic method reviewed in this article. Efforts to replace high resolution receptor microautoradiography with other methods have not been successful, except in a few very limited applications. Over the years, in vivo scanning methods continued to improve resolution in molecular imaging with Micro PET and SPECT (Phelps, 2000), used as independent and combined procedures. Progress has been made with Advanced MRI (Jackson et al., 2008) and Secondary Ion Mass Spectometry (SIMS) (Wu et al., 2010). Spectrometric methods have provided promising data (Walch et al., 2008; Touboul et al., 2010; Schwartz and Caprioli, 2010; Rauser et al., 2010; Ji et al., 2010). For MALDI-MSI, no tagging of molecules is required. Whether spectrometric approaches can be developed into practical, general procedures for drug distribution studies (Reyzer et al., 2010) or whether their utility will continue to be limited to specific applications, remains to be tested and validated with compounds for which cellular-subcellular and tissue distribution patterns have been established, such as, estradiol and vitamin D.

With MALDI sprectrometric imaging, molecular finger printing of macromolecular lipids, polypeptides will be of diagnostic value. Spacial localization of covalently bound substances, including certain drugs, is also possible. Such compounds can be immobilized through fixatives at their in vivo sites, and tissue can be treated without loss and translocation. However imaging of diffusible compounds requires special precautions. Fixation, embedding, any liquid phase must be excluded in order to avoid loss and translocation artifacts. Spectrometric methods would require precautions in tissue handling as developed for receptor microautoradiography (Stumpf, 2003). In order to achieve cellular-subcellular tissue resolution of diffusible compounds, which includes most of the drugs, adjustment of procedure is required. Current development and evidence suggest that certain limitations of spectrometric methods - similar to those associated with whole body autoradiography and biochemical radioassays - will be difficult or impossible to overcome and that results of different histochemical approaches will need to be correlated and complement each other. Immunocytochemical localization of antibodies to receptor protein has been attempted for the identification of drug receptor target binding sites to substitute autoradiography. Localization of antibodies to receptor protein can provide information identical with that of drug binding, however, results may not always correspond to those of drug binding and specific deposition. Types of antibodies, tissue fixation, accessibility of epitopes, varying composition of receptor protein all can influence results. Comparative studies are needed between receptor microautoradiography and immunocytochemistry. Can microautoradiography be improved? Digitized recording of beta-emissions from frozen or freeze-dried sections in lieu of exposure to nuclear emulsion would be an attractive avenue to pursue. If feasible, this would simplify high resolution autoradiography. However, problems of resolution and sensitivity remain to be solved (Cabello and Wells, 2010). The close contact between tissue section and the recording nuclear emulsion seems prerequisite for the high resolution achieved with the thin thaw-mounted sections. Electron microscopic autoradiography, occasionally applied in the past, was expected to provide information relevant to subcellular drug distribution (Ullberg and Appelgren, 1969). Applications have been sparse, and it

20

appears that no practical elctronmicroscopic method has become available. Depending on the type of compound and purpose of study, low-resolution non-microscopic data as provided by current in vivo imaging methods may suffice for some practical purposes. If used alone, however, false negatives must be considered. Certain questions can be answered only if cellular-subcellular information is available. For obtaining such information and judging from the pictorial evidence, there is currently no feasible, reliable substitute that can replace receptor microscopic autoradiography.

#### References

- Bidman HJ, Radu I, Stumpf WE. Aspects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 binding sites in fish: an autoradiographic study. Rom J Morphol Embryol 1997;43:91–101.
- Bidmon HJ, Granger NA, Cherbas P, Maròy P, Stumpf WE. Ecdysteroid receptors in the central nervous system of Manduca sexta: their changes in distribution and quantity during larval-pupal development. J Comp Neurol 1991a;310:337–55.
- Bidmon HJ, Sliter TJ. The ecdysteroid receptor. Invertebrate Reproduction and Development 1990;18:13–27.
- Bidmon HJ, Granger NA, Cherbas P, Maròy P, Stumpf WE. Ecdysteroid receptors in the central nervous system of Manduca sexta: their changes in distribution and quantity during larval-pupal development. J Comp Neurol 1991b;15:337–55.
- Bidmon HJ, Stumpf WE, Kawamata S, Shirasu K, Gutkowska J, Sar M. Colocalization of atrial natriuretic factor (ANF) and estradiol in hypothalamic neurons by combined autoradiography-immunohistochemistry. Histochemistry 1990;94:505–8.
- Bidmon HJ, Stumpf WE. Distribution of the nuclear receptor for vitamin D in female and male zebra finches, Taeniopygia guttata. Cell Tissue Res 1994a;276:333–45.
- Bidmon HJ, Stumpf WE. Distribution of target cells for 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> in the brain of the yellow bellied turtle Trachemys scripta. Brain Res 1994b;640:277–85.
- Bidmon HJ, Stumpf WE. Vitamin D target systems in the brain of the green lizard Anolis carolinensis. Anat Embryol (Berl) 1996;193:145–60.
- Birmingham MK, Sar M, Stumpf WE. Localization of aldosterone and corticosterone in the central nervous system, assessed by quantitative autoradiography. Neurochem Res 1984;9:333–50.
- Birmingham MK, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Nuclear localization of aldosterone in rat brain cells, assessed by autoradiography. Experientia 1979;35:1240–1.
- Brown DA, Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Location of radioactively labelled extracellular fluid indicators in nervous tissue by autoradiography. J Cell Science 1969;4:265–88.
- Brüstle O, Duncan GE, Hu W, Pilgrim C, Breese GR, Stumpf WE. Topography of basal glucose utilization in rat thalamus and hypothalamus determined with (1-<sup>14</sup>C)- glucose. Anat Embryol 1988;179:1–17.
- Cabello J, Wells K. The spatial resolution of silicon-based electron detectors in beta-autoradiography. Phys Med Biol 2010;55:1677–99.
- Chamness GC, Mercer WD, McGuire WL. Are histochemical methods for estrogen receptor valid? J Histochem Cytochem 1980;28:792–8.
- Clemens TL, Garrett KP, Zhou XY, Pike JW, Haussler MR. Immunohistochemical localization of the 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> receptor in target cells. Endocrinol 1988;122:1224–30.
- Colston K, Hirt M, Feldman D. Organ distribution of the cytoplasmic 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol receptor in various mouse tissues. Endocrinol 1980;107:1916–22.
- De Kloet R, Wallach G, McEwen BS. Differences in corticosterone and dexamethasone binding to rat brain and pituitary. Endocrinol 1975;96:598–609.
- DeLuca HF. Evolution of our understanding of vitamin D. Nutr Rev 2008;66(Suppl 2):73-87.
- Dratman MB, Futaesaku Y, Crutchfield FL, Berman N, Payne B, Sar M, Stumpf WE. Iodine–125–labeled triiodothyronine in rat brain: Evidence for localization in discrete neural systems. Science 1982;215:309–12.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE. Target neurons for [<sup>3</sup>H]corticosterone in the rat spinal cord. Brain Res 1984;307: 321–6.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE. A combined autoradiographic and immunocytochemical study of 3H corticosterone target neurons and catecholamine neurons in rat and mouse lower brain stem. Neuroendocrinol 1985;40:262–71.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE. Brain activity patterns: assessment by high resolution autoradiographic imaging of radiolabeled 2-deoxyglucose and glucose uptake. Prog Neurobiol 1991;37:365–82.

- Duncan GE, Kaldas RG, Mitra KE, Breese GR, Stumpf WE. High activity neurons in the reticular formation of the medulla oblongata: A high-resolution autoradiographic 2-deoxyglucose study. Neuroscience 1990;35:593–600.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE, Breese GR. Topography of basal glucose utilization in the hippocampus determined with (1-<sup>14</sup>C)-glucose and (6-<sup>14</sup>C)-glucose. Neuroscience 1988;24:877–83.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE, Pilgrim C. Cerebral metabolic mapping at the cellular level with dry-mount autoradiography of (<sup>3</sup>H)-2-deoxyglucose. Brain Res 1987a;401:43–9.
- Duncan GE, Stumpf WE, Pilgrim C, Breese GR. High resolution autoradiography at the regional topographic level with (<sup>14</sup>C)-2-deoxyglucose and (<sup>3</sup>H)-deoxyglucose. J Neurosci Methods 1987b;20:105–13.
- Eichler H-G, Mueller M. Drug distribution the forgotten relative in clinical pharmacokinetics. Clin Pharmacokinet 1998;34:95–9.
- Eisenfeld AJ, Axelrod J. Selectivity of estrogen distribution in tissues. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1965;50:469–75.
- Ermisch A, Rühle HJ. Autoradiographic demonstration of aldosterone-concentrating neuron populations in rat brain. Brain Res 1978;147:154–8.
- Ermisch A, Landgraf R, Ruehle HJ, editors. Circumventricular Orgnas and Brain Fluid Environment. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1992.
- Eyles D, Brown J, Mackay-Sim A, McGrath J, Feron F. Vitamin D3 and brain development. Neuroscience 2003;118:641–53.
- Eyles DW, Smith S, Kinobe R, Hewison M, McGrath JJ. Distribution of the vitamin D receptor and 1 alphahydroxylase in human brain. J Chem Neuroanat 2005;29:21–30.
- Feldman D, Pike JW, Glorieux FH, editors. Vitamin D. Elsevier/Academic Press; 2005.
- Pfaff DW. Uptake of <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol by the female rat brain. An autoradiographic study. Endocrinology 1968;82:1149–55.
- Gasc JM, Ennis BW, Baulieu EE, Stumpf WE. Combined technique of immunohistochemistry and autoradiography for the simultaneous detection of steroid hormone receptors and their ligand. J Histochem Cytochem 1986;34:1505–8.
- Gelbard HA, Stern PH, U'Prichard DC. 1 alpha, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 nuclear receptors in pituitary. Science 1980;209(4462):1247–9.
- Gerlach JL, McEwen BS. Rat brain binds adrenal steroid hormone: radioautography of hippocampus with corticosterone. Science 1972;175(26):1133–6.
- Grant LD, Stumpf WE. Hormone uptake sites in relation to CNS biogenic amine systems. In: Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975. p. 445–64.
- Grant LD, Heritage AS, Stumpf WE. Localization of <sup>3</sup>H estradiol uptake sites in relation to CNS catecholamine pathways by combined fluorescence microscopy/autoradiography techniques. Acta Pharmacologica et Toxicologica 1977;41(Suppl. 1):44–5.
- Heritage AS, Grant LD, Stumpf WE. <sup>3</sup>H Estradiol in catecholamine neurons of rat brain stem: Combined localization by autoradiography and formaldehyde–induced fluorescence. J Comp Neurol 1977;176: 607–30.
- Heritage AS, Stumpf WE, Sar M, Grant LD. Brainstem catecholamine neurons are target sites for sex steroid hormones. Science 1980;207:1377–9.
- Heritage AS, Stumpf WE, Sar M, Grant LD. <sup>3</sup>H–Dihydrotestosterone in catecholamine neurons of rat brain stem: Combined localization by autoradiography and formaldehyde-induced fluorescence. J Comp Neurol 1981;200:289–307.
- Jackson A, O'Connor J, Thompson G, Mills S. Magnetic resonance perfusion imaging in neuro-oncology. Cancer Imaging 2008;8:186–99.
- Jensen EV, DeSombre ER, Jungblut PW, Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Biochemical and autoradiographic studies of <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol localization. In: Roth LJ, Stumpf WE, editors. Autoradiography of Diffusible Substances. New York: Academic Press; 1969. p. 81–97.
- Ji C, van der Have F, Gratama van Andel H, Ramakers R, Beekman F. Accurate coregistration between Ultra-High-Resolution Micro-SPECT and Circular Cone-Beam Micro-CT Scanners. Int J Biomed Imaging 2010;2010:506–654.
- Keefer DA, Stumpf WE. Estrogen–concentrating neuron systems in the brain of the tree shrew. Gen Comp Endocrinol 1975a;26:504–16.
- Keefer DA, Stumpf WE. Atlas of estrogen–concentrating cells in the central nervous system of the squirrel monkey. J Comp Neurol 1975b;160:419–42.
- Keefer DA, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Topographical localization of estrogen–concentrating cells in the rat spinal cord following <sup>3</sup>H–estradiol administration. Proc Soc Exptl Biol Med 1973;143:414–7.
- Keefer DA, Stumpf WE, Petrusz P. Quantitative autoradiographic assessment of <sup>3</sup>H estradiol uptake in immunocytochemically characterized pituitary cells. Cell Tiss Res 1976;166:25–35.

- Kim YS, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Topography of estrogen target cells in the forebrain of goldfish, Carrassius auratus. J Comp Neurol 1978;182:611–20.
- Kim YS, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Topographical distribution of estrogen target cells in the forebrain of platyfish, Xiphophorus maculatus, studied by autoradiography. Brain Res 1979;170:43–59.
- Kim YS, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Anatomical distribution of estrogen target neurons in turtle brain. Brain Res 1981;230:195–204.
- Kim YS, Stumpf WE, Reid FA, Sar M, Selzer ME. Estrogen target cells in the forebrain of river lamprey, Ichthyomyzon unicuspis. J Comp Neurol 1980;191:607–13.
- Krezel W, Kastner P, Chambon P. Differential expression of retinoid receptors in the adult mouse central nervous system. Neuroscience 1999;89:1291–300.
- Kuhn TS. The structure of scientific revolution. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1962.
- Levi H. Attempts at an autoradiographic localization of labeled steroid hormones in tissue. In: Roth LJ, Stumpf WE, editors. Autoradiography of Diffusible Substances. New York: Academic Press; 1969. p. 113–20.
- Lin JH. Tissue distribution and pharmacodynamics: a complicated relationship. Curr Drug Metab 2006;7:39-65.
- Martinez-Vargas MC, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Estrogen localization in dove bra. In: Phylogenetic considerations, implications for nomenclature, in: WE, Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975. p. 166–75.
- MacLusky NJ, McEwen BS. Progestin receptors in rat brain: distribution and properties of cytoplasmic progestinbinding sites. Endocrinol 1980;106:192–202.
- Martinez-Vargas MC, Keefer DA, Stumpf WE. Estrogen localization in the brain of the lizard, Anolis carolinesis. J Exp Zool 1978;205:141–7.
- Martinez-Vargas MC, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Anatomical distribution of estrogen target cells in avian CNS: A comparison with the mammalian CNS. J Comp Neurol 1976;167:83–104.
- McEwen BS, Weiss JM, Schwartz LS. Selective retention of corticosterone by limbic structures in rat brain. Nature 1968;30:911–2.
- McGrath J. Hypothesis: is low prenatal vitamin D a risk-modifying factor for schizophrenia? Schizophr Res 1999;40:173–7.
- Monro AM. Are routine tissue distribution studies justifiable for approval of human drugs? Drug Metab Dispos 1994;22:341–2.
- Munn III AR, Sar M, Stumpf WE. Topographic distribution of progestin target cells in hamster brain and pituitary after injection of [<sup>3</sup>H] R5020. Brain Res 1983;274:1–10.
- Musiol IM, Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Heiss C, Mayerhofer A, Bartke A. Vitamin D nuclear binding to neurons of the septal, substriatal and amygdaloid area in the Siberian hamster (Phodopus sungorus) brain. Neuroscience 1992;48:841–8.
- Narbaitz R, Stumpf WE, Sar M. The role of autoradiographic and immunocytochemical techniques in the clarification of sites of metabolism and action of vitamin D. J Histochem Cytochem 1981;29:91–100.
- Neveu I, Naveilhan P, Jehan F, Baudet C, Wion D, De Luca HF, Brachet P. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> regulates the synthesis of nerve growth factor in primary cultures of glial cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1994;24:70–6.
- Pardridge W, Sakiyama M, Coty RWA. Restricted transport of vitamin D and A derivatives through the rat blood-brain barrier. J Neurochem 1985;44:1138–41.
- Pearse AGE. Histochemistry, theoretical and applied. London: Churchill; 1960.
- Phelps ME. PET: The Merging of Biology and Imaging into Molecular Imaging. The Journal of Nuclear Medicine 2000;41:661–81.
- Privette TH, Stumpf WE, Mueller RA, Hollis BW. Serum 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 (soltriol) levels influence serotonin levels in the hypothalamus of the rat Abstr. Soc Neurosci 1991;17:498 (197.9).
- Puchacz E, Stumpf WE, Stachowiak EK, Stachowiak MK. Vitamin D increases expression of the tyrosine hydroxylase gene in adrenal medullary cells. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1996;36:193–6.
- Rauser S, Deininger SO, Suckau D, Höfler H, Walch A. Approaching MALDI molecular imaging for clinical proteomic research: current state and fields of application. Expert Rev Proteomics 2010;7:927–41.
- Rees HD, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Autoradiographic studies with <sup>3</sup>H dexamethasone in the rat brain and pituitary. In: Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975. p. 262–9.
- Reid FA, Gasc JM, Stumpf WE, Sar M. Androgen target cells in spinal cord, spinal ganglia and glycogen body of chick embryos: Autoradiographic localization. Exptl Brain Res 1981;44:243–8.
- Reyzer ML, Chaurand P, Angel PM, Caprioli RM. Direct molecular analysis of whole-body animal tissue sections by MALDI imaging mass spectrometry. Methods Mol Biol 2010;656:285–301.
- Roth LJ, Barlow CF. Drugs in the brain. Science 1961;134:22-31.
- Roth LJ, Stumpf WE, editors. Autoradiography of Diffusible Substances. New York: Academic Press; 1969.
- Rühle HJ. Tracer uptake by circumventricular organs–a relative measure of blood supply to the brain. Prog Brain Res 1992;91:205–8.

- Sandgren ME, Brönnegärd M, DeLuca HF. Tissue distribution of the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor in the male rat. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1991;181:611–6.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Cellular localization of androgen in the brain and pituitary after the injection of tritiated testosterone. Experientia 1972;28:1364–6.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Neurons of the hypothalamus concentrate <sup>3</sup>H–progesterone or metabolites of it. Science 1973a;182:1266–8.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Autoradiographic localization of radioactivity in the rat brain after the injection of 1,2–<sup>3</sup>H-testosterone. Endocrinol 1973b;92:251–6.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Androgen concentration in motor neurons of cranial nerves and spinal cord. Science 1977;197:77–9.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Central noradrenalinergic neurons concentrate3H estradiol. Nature 1981;289:500-2.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE. Localization of steroid hormone target neurons by autoradiography: Anatomical relationships to aminergic and peptidergic systems by combined autoradiography and immunohistochemistry. In: Björklund A, Hökfelt T, editors. Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy. Vol. 1. Methods in Chemical Anatomy. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1983. p. 442–62.
- Sar M, Stumpf WE, DeLuca HF. Thyrotropes in the pituitary are target cells for 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. Cell Tiss Res 1980;209:161–6.
- Schwartz SA, Caprioli RM. Imaging mass spectrometry: viewing the future. Methods Mol Biol 2010;656:3-19.
- Shughrue PJ, Stumpf WE, Sar M. The distribution of progesterone receptor in the 20-day old fetal mouse: An autoradiographic study with [<sup>125</sup>I] progestin. Endocrinol 1988;123:2382–9.
- Shughrue PJ, Sar M, Stumpf WE. Progestin target cell distribution in forebrain and midbrain regions of the 8-day postnatal mouse brain. Endocrinol 1992;130:3650–9.
- Sibug RM, Stumpf WE, Shughrue PJ, Hochberg RB, Drews U. Distribution of estrogen target sites in the 2-day-old mouse forebrain and pituitary gland during the 'critical period' of sexual differentiation. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 1991;61:11–22.
- Sokoloff L, Reivich M, Kennedy C, Des Rosiers MH, Patlak CS, Pettigrew KD, Sakurada O, Shinohara M. The [14C]deoxyglucose method for the measurement of local cerebral glucose utilization: theory, procedure, and normal values in the conscious and anesthetized albino rat. J Neurochem 1977;28:897–916.
- Sonnenberg J, Luine VN, Krey LC, Christakos S. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 treatment results in increased choline acetyltransferase activity in specific brain nuclei. Endocrinol 1986;118:1433–9.
- Stewart A, Wong K, Cachat J, Elegante M, Gilder T, Mohnot S, Wu N, Minasyan A, Tuohimaa P, Kalueff AV. Neurosteroid vitamin D system as a nontraditional drug target in neuropsychopharmacology. Behav Pharmacol 2010;21:420–6.
- Stumpf WE. High resolution autoradiography of diffusible substances. Science 1968a;161:1262-4.
- Stumpf WE. Estradiol concentrating neurons: Topography in the hypothalamus by dry–mount autoradiography. Science 1968b;162:1001–3.
- Stumpf WE. Too much noise in the autoradiogram? Science 1969;163:958-9.
- Stumpf WE. Localization of hormones by autoradiography and other histochemical techniques: A critical review. J Histochem Cytochem 1970a;18:21–9.
- Stumpf WE. Estrogen-neurons and estrogen-neuron systems in the periventricular brain. Am J Anat 1970b;129:207-18.
- Stumpf WE. Autoradiographic techniques and the localization of estrogen, androgen and glucocorticoid in pituitary and brain, Am. Zool 1971;11:725–39.
- Stumpf WE. Binding of estrogens, progestagens, androgens and corticosteroids in the central nervous system. In: Verhofstad AAJ, van Kemenade JAM, editors. Interactions between the Nervous and the Endocrine System. Univ. Nijmegen; 1979. p. 103–34.
- Stumpf WE. "Peer" review. Science 1980;207(4433):822-3.
- Stumpf WE. The endocrinology of sunlight and darkness: Complementary roles of vitamin D and pineal hormones. Naturwissenschaften 1988a;75:247–51.
- Stumpf WE. Vitamin D-Soltriol. The heliogenic steroid hormone: Somatotrophic activator and modulator. Discoveries from histochemical studies lead to new concepts. Histochem 1988b;89:209–19.
- Stumpf WE. Vitamin D sites and mechanisms of action: a histochemical perspective. Reflections on the utility of autoradiography and cytopharmacology for drug targeting. Histochem Cell Biol 1995;104: 417–27.
- Stumpf WE. Receptor localization of steroid hormones and drugs: discoveries through the use of thaw-mount and dry-mount autoradiography. Braz J Med Biol Res 1998;31:197–206.
- Stumpf WE. Limitations of whole-body autoradiography without receptor microautoradiography. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 2002;48:127–8.
- Stumpf WE. Drug Localization in Tissues and Cells. Chapel Hill, NC: IDDC Press (University Bookstore); 2003.

- Stumpf WE. Drug localization and targeting with receptor microscopic autoradiography. J Pharmacol Toxicol Meth 2005;51:25–40.
- Stumpf WE. Memo to the FDA and ICH: appeal for in vivo drug target identification and target pharmacokinetics Recommendations for improved procedures and requirements. Drug Discov Today 2007a;15–16:594–8.
- Stumpf WE. The main role of vitamin D: seasonal regulation of vital functions. High-resolution target recognition leads to a new paradigm and advanced drug development. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 2007b;32:1–6.
- Stumpf WE. In vivo target recognition with high-resolution imaging: significance for drug development. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokin 2010;35:15–22.
- Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Li L, Pilgrim C, Bartke A, Mayerhofer A, Heiss C. Nuclear receptor sites for vitamin D-soltriol in midbrain and hindbrain of Siberian hamster (Phodopus sungorus) assessed by autoradiography. Histochem 1992a;98:155–64.
- Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Murakami R. Retinoic acid binding sites in adult brain, pituitary, and retina. Naturwissenschaften 1991a;78:561–2.
- Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Rühle HJ. Steroid hormones and circumventricular organs. Prog Brain Res 1992b;91:271–7.
- Stumpf WE, Grant LD. The brain: An endocrine organ and hormone target. Science 1974;186:1137-8.

Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975.

- Stumpf WE, Graul EH, Hundeshagen H. Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Pharmakologie des mit 3H–markierten Tetrabenazins. Arzneimittelforschung 1961;11:47–9.
- Stumpf WE, Heiss C, Sar M, Duncan GE, Craver C. Dexamethasone and corticosterone receptor sites: Differential topographic distribution in rat hippocampus revealed by high resolution autoradiography. Histochem 1989a;92:201–10.
- Stumpf WE, Jennes L. The A-B-C (Allocortex-Brainstem-Core) circuitry of endocrine–autonomic integration and regulation: A proposed hypothesis on the anatomical–functional relationships between estradiol sites of action and peptidergic–aminergic neuronal systems. Peptides 1984(Suppl. 1):221–6.
- Stumpf WE, Lester R. Secretion and absorption of mesobilirubinogen-H3 studied by autoradiography. Lab Invest 1966;15:1156–62.
- Stumpf WE, O'Brien LP. 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub> Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> sites of action in the brain: an autoradiographic study. Histochem 1987;87:393–406.
- Stumpf WE, Pilgrim C. Artifacts in autoradiography. In: Stumpf WE, Salomon HF, editors. Autoradiography and correlative imaging. San Diego: Academic Press; 1994. p. 67–78.
- Stumpf WE, Privette TH. Light, vitamin D and psychiatry. Role of 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 (soltriol) in etiology and therapy of seasonal affective disorder and other mental processes. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1989;97:285–94.
- Stumpf WE, Privette TH. The steroid hormone of sunlight soltriol (vitamin D) as a seasonal regulator of biological activities and photoperiodic rhythms. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1991;39:283–9.
- Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Vacuum freeze drying of frozen sections for dry-mounting, high-resolution autoradiography. Stain Technol 1964;39:219–23.
- Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Thin sections cut at temperatures of  $-70^{\circ}$  to  $-90^{\circ}$ C. Nature 1965;205:712–3.
- Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. High resolution autoradiography with dry-mounted, freeze-dried, frozen sections: Comparative study of six methods using two diffusible compounds, <sup>3</sup>H-estradiol and <sup>3</sup>H-mesobilirubinogen. J Histochem Cytochem 1966;14:274–87.
- Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Freeze–drying of small tissue samples and thin frozen sections below -60° C: A simple method of cryosorption pumping. J Histochem Cytochem 1967;15:243–51.
- Stumpf, W.E., Roth, L.J., 1968. High resolution autoradiography of <sup>3</sup>H–estradiol with unfixed, unembedded 1.0 μm freeze–dried sections. In: Advances in Tracer Methodology, S. Rothchild (Ed.), Vol. 4, Plenum Press, New York, pp.113–125, and Atomlight (New England Nuclear) 65,1–9.
- Stumpf WE, Roth LJ. Autoradiography using dry–mounted freeze–dried sections. In: Roth LJ, Stumpf WE, editors. Autoradiography of Diffusible Substances. New York: Academic Press; 1969. p. 69–80.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Hormonal inputs to releasing factor cells, feedback sites. In: Zimmermann E, Gispen WH, Marks BH, de Wied D, editors. Progress in Brain Research, Vol. 39, Drug Effects on Neuroendocrinel Regulation. Amsterdam: Elsevier Scientific Publishing Comp; 1973. p. 53–71.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Anatomical distribution of corticosterone concentrating neurons in rat brain. In: Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975a. p. 83–103.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Localization of thyroid hormone in the mature rat brain and pituitary. In: Stumpf WE, Grant LD, editors. Anatomical Neuroendocrinology. Basel: S. Karger; 1975b. p. 318–27.
- Stumpf, W.E., Sar, M., 1976a. Autoradiographic localization of estrogen, androgen, progestin and glucocorticosteroid "target tissues" and "non-target tissues". In: Receptors and Mechanisms of Action of Steroid Hormones. Modern Pharmacology–Toxicology, Vol.8, J. Pasqualini (Ed.), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 41–84.

- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Steroid hormone target sites in the brain: The differential distribution of estrogen, progestin, androgen and glucocorticosteroid. J STEROID BIOCHEM 1976b;7:1163–70.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Anatomical distribution of estrogen, androgen, progestin, corticosteroid and thyroid hormone target sites in the brain of mammals: Phylogeny and ontogeny. Am Zool 1978a;18:435–45.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Estrogen target cells in fetal brain. In: Doerner G, Kawakami M, editors. Hormones and Brain Development. Amsterdam: Elsevier/North–Holland; 1978b. p. 27–33.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Steroid hormone sites of action in the brain. In: Fuxe K, Gustafsson JA, Wetterberg L, editors. Steroid Hormone Regulation of the Brain. New York: Pergamon Press; 1981a. p. 41–50.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M. Anatomical relationships between estrogen target sites and peptidergic-aminergic neurons: multiple activation of heterogeneous systems (MAHS). Exp Brain Res Suppl 1981b;3:18–28.
- Stumpf WE, Solomon HF, editors. Autoradiography and Correlative Imaging. San Diego: Academic Press; 1995.
- Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Murakami R. Retinoic acid binding sites in adult brain, pituitary, and retina. Naturwissenschaften 1991b;78:561–2.
- Stumpf WE, Bidmon HJ, Li L, Pilgrim C, Bartke A, Mayerhofer A, Heiss C. Nuclear receptor sites for vitamin D-soltriol in midbrain and hindbrain of Siberian hamster (Phodopus sungorus) assessed by autoradiography. Histochemistry 1992c;98:155–64.
- Stumpf WE, Clark SA, O'Brien LP, Reid FA. 1,25 OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sub>3</sub> sites of action in spinal cord and sensory ganglion. Anat Embryol 1988;177:307–10.
- Stumpf WE, Heiss C, Sar M, Duncan GE, Craver C. Dexamethasone and corticosterone receptor sites. Differential topographic distribution in rat hippocampus revealed by high resolution autoradiography. Histochemistry 1989b;92:201–10.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Aumueller G. The heart: A target organ for estradiol. Science 1977;196:319-21.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Clark SA, DeLuca HF. Brain target sites for 1,25–dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>. Science 1982;215:1403–5.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Clark SA, Lieth E, DeLuca HF. Target neurons for 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D<sub>3</sub> in brain and spinal cord. Neuroendocrin Lett 1980a;2:297–301.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Grant LD. Autoradiographic localization of <sup>210</sup>Pb and its decay products in rat forebrain. Neurotoxicology 1980b;1:593–606.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Kim YS, Keefer DA, Martinez-Vargas MC. Evolutionary aspects of estrogen-sensitive structures in the vertebrate forebrain. In: Pang PKT, Epple A, editors. Evolution of Vertebrate Systems. Kubbock, Texas: Texas Tech. Press; 1980c. p. 85–93.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, O'Brien LP. Vitamin D sites of action in the pituitary studied by combined autoradiographyimmunohistochemistry. Histochem 1987;88:11–6.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Reid FA, Tanaka Y, DeLuca HF. Target cells for 1,25–dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> in intestinal tract, stomach, kidney, skin, pituitary and parathyroid. Science 1979;206:1188–90.
- Stumpf WE, Sar M, Zuber TJ, Soini E, Tuohimaa P. Quantitative assessment of steroid hormone binding sites by thaw-mount autoradiography. J Histochem Cytochem 1981;1A(29):201–6.
- Tafti M, Ghyselinck NB. Functional implication of the vitamin A signaling pathway in the brain. Arch Neurol 2007;64:1706–11.
- Touboul, D., Brunelle, A., Laprévote, O., 2010. Mass spectrometry imaging: Towards a lipid microscope? Biochimie. 2010 Jun 4. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ubbenhorst, A., Striebich, S., Lang, F., Lang, U.E., 2011. Exploring the relationship between vitamin D and basic personality traits. Psychopharmacology (Berl). Jan 29.[ahead of print].
- Ullberg S, Appelgren LE. Experiences in locating drugs at different levels of resolution. In: Roth LJ, Stumpf WE, editors. Autoradiography of Diffusible Substances. New York: Academic Press; 1969. p. 279–99.
- Walch A, Rauser S, Deininger SO, Höfler H. MALDI imaging mass spectrometry for direct tissue analysis: a new frontier for molecular histology. Histochem Cell Biol 2008;130:421–34.
- Watson, B. (translator), (1964). Chuang Tzu: Basic Writings. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Warembourg M. Steroid receptors in the brain: Topography and some functional implications. Neurochem Int 1985;7:941–52.
- Warembourg M. Detection of diffusible substances. J Microsc Biol Cell 1976;27:227-80.
- Wu L, Felton JS, Wu KJ. Applying imaging ToF-SIMS and PCA in differentiation of tissue types. Methods Mol Biol 2010;656:267–81.